Public Document Pack

A Meeting of the STANDARDS COMMITTEE will be held
virtually on MONDAY 8 MARCH 2021 AT 7.00 PM

Susan Parsonage
Chief Executive
Published on 26 February 2021
Note: The Council has made arrangements under the Coronavirus Act 2020
to hold this meeting virtually via Microsoft Teams. The meeting may be
viewed live using the following link: https://youtu.be/36UH5DRLYv4

This meeting may be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s website.
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog from this
meeting. The use of these images or recordings is not under the Council’s
control.

Our Vision
A great place to live, learn, work and grow and a great place to do business

Enriching Lives







Champion outstanding education and enable our children and young people to achieve their full
potential, regardless of their background.
Support our residents to lead happy, healthy lives and provide access to good leisure facilities to
complement an active lifestyle.
Engage and involve our communities through arts and culture and create a sense of identity which
people feel part of.
Support growth in our local economy and help to build business.
Safe, Strong, Communities
Protect and safeguard our children, young and vulnerable people.
Offer quality care and support, at the right time, to prevent the need for long term care.
Nurture communities and help them to thrive.
Ensure our borough and communities remain safe for all.






Do all we can to become carbon neutral and sustainable for the future.
Protect our borough, keep it clean and enhance our green areas.
Reduce our waste, improve biodiversity and increase recycling.
Connect our parks and open spaces with green cycleways.




Offer quality, affordable, sustainable homes fit for the future.
Build our fair share of housing with the right infrastructure to support and enable our borough to
grow.
Protect our unique places and preserve our natural environment.
Help with your housing needs and support people to live independently in their own homes.





A Clean and Green Borough

Right Homes, Right Places




Keeping the Borough Moving





Maintain and improve our roads, footpaths and cycleways.
Tackle traffic congestion, minimise delays and disruptions.
Enable safe and sustainable travel around the borough with good transport infrastructure.
Promote healthy alternative travel options and support our partners to offer affordable, accessible
public transport with good network links.

Changing the Way We Work for You





Be relentlessly customer focussed.
Work with our partners to provide efficient, effective, joined up services which are focussed around
you.
Communicate better with you, owning issues, updating on progress and responding appropriately
as well as promoting what is happening in our Borough.
Drive innovative digital ways of working that will connect our communities, businesses and
customers to our services in a way that suits their needs.

MEMBERSHIP OF THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE
Councillors
John Kaiser (Vice-Chairman)
Graham Howe
Daniel Sargeant

Prue Bray
Imogen Shepherd-DuBey

Gary Cowan
Abdul Loyes

Parish/Town Council Representatives
Sally Gurney
Co-Optee, Wokingham Town Council
Roy Mantel
Co-Optee Twyford Parish Council

ITEM
NO.

WARD

SUBJECT

24.

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence.

25.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 11
January 2021.

26.

DECLARATION OF INTEREST
To receive any declarations of interest.

27.

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
To answer any public questions. A period of 30
minutes will be allowed for members of the public to
ask questions submitted under notice.

PAGE
NO.

5-6

The Council welcomes questions from members of the
public about the work of this Committee.
Subject to meeting certain timescales, questions can
relate to general issues concerned with the work of the
Committee or an item which is on the Agenda for this
meeting. For full details of the procedure for
submitting questions please contact the Democratic
Services Section on the numbers given below or go to
www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions
28.

MEMBER QUESTION TIME
To answer any Member questions.

29.

PARISH / TOWN COUNCIL QUESTION TIME
To answer any questions from Parish or Town
Councillors.

30.

None Specific

MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT
To consider the LGA’s new Model Code of Conduct
and feedback from the 2020 public consultation into
the Council’s existing Code.

7 - 50

31.

None Specific

UPDATE ON COMPLAINTS AND FEEDBACK
To consider the Monitoring Officer’s update report on
recent complaints investigated under the Code of
Conduct.

51 - 56

32.

None Specific

SOCIAL MEDIA GUIDANCE
To consider proposed guidance for Members on the
appropriate use of social media.

57 - 68

33.

None Specific

ANNUAL REPORT
To approve the Annual Report of the Standards
Committee for submission to the Council in March
2021.

69 - 76

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent.
A Supplementary Agenda will be issued by the Chief Executive if there are any
other items to consider under this heading.

Neil Carr
Tel
Email
Postal Address

CONTACT OFFICER
Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist
0118 974 6058
neil.carr@wokingham.gov.uk
Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN

Agenda Item 25.
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE
STANDARDS COMMITTEE
HELD ON 11 JANUARY 2021 FROM 7.30 PM TO 7.55 PM
Committee Members Present
Councillors: John Halsall (Chairman), John Kaiser (Vice-Chairman), Prue Bray,
Gary Cowan, Graham Howe, Imogen Shepherd-DuBey and Wayne Smith
Parish/Town Council Representatives:- Sally Gurney (Co-Optee, Wokingham Town
Council) and Roy Mantel (Co-Optee Twyford Parish Council)
Officers Present
Neil Carr, Democratic and Electoral Services Officer
Jennifer Lee, Deputy Monitoring Officer
Andrew Moulton, Monitoring Officer
36.
APOLOGIES
There were no apologies for absence.
37.
MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 12 October 2020 were confirmed as
a correct record and would be signed by the Chairman at a later date.
Note: Prue Bray expressed concern that the meeting had originally been arranged for 7pm
(as set out in the Agenda) but had subsequently been rearranged to commence at
7.30pm.
38.
DECLARATION OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.
39.
PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
In accordance with the agreed procedure the Chairman invited members of the public to
submit questions.
39.1

Philip Meadowcroft asked the following question of the Chairman:

What arrangements are in place for Councillors to be trained in fulfilling their duties and
understanding the various protocols in the Borough’s Constitution where they apply to the
conduct of Councillors?
Answer
The Standards Committee aims to achieve the highest ethical standards in line with the
seven principles of public life. Newly elected Councillors receive induction training which
outlines the standards of behaviour required and the importance of establishing and
maintaining the trust of residents. The training also covers areas such as the declaration of
personal and prejudicial interests, access to information and the Member/Officer protocol.
Supplementary guidance is also provided on common issues which arise through the
investigation of complaints. As an example, the development of guidance on the use and
misuse of social media is currently under consideration.
Supplementary Question

5

In my question I referred to the protocols in place. Please can you guide me through
Paragraph 9.1.1 a) of the Constitution?
Supplementary Answer
I will have to provide you with a written answer.
Note: Prue Bray expressed concern as she did not believe that the question had been
circulated to Members prior to the meeting, nor was it available for public inspection.
40.
MEMBER QUESTION TIME
There were no Member questions.
41.
PARISH / TOWN COUNCIL QUESTION TIME
There were no questions from Town or Parish Council Members.
42.
CONSULTATION ON THE WBC CODE OF CONDUCT FOR COUNCILLORS
The Committee considered a report, set out at Agenda pages7 to 22, which gave details of
a public consultation on proposed changes to the Code of Conduct for Councillors.
At this point (7.50pm) Imogen Shepherd-Dubey raised a point of order in relation to the
Committee’s composition and the implications of Paragraph 9.1.1 of the Council’s
Constitution (as referenced in the public question from Philip Meadowcroft).
On the advice of the Monitoring Officer, the meeting ended in order to allow further
consideration of the Constitutional issue raised.
43.
UPDATE ON COMPLAINTS AND FEEDBACK
This item was not considered.

6

Agenda Item 30.
TITLE

Member Code of Conduct

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Standards Committee on 8 March 2021

WARD

(All Wards);

LEAD OFFICER

Monitoring Officer - Andrew Moulton

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
The Council is bound to maintain a Councillor Code of Conduct and to publish
arrangements to advise residents how complaints can be made under the Code.
RECOMMENDATION
Standards Committee is asked:1. That the Model Code, with agreed amendments, be recommended to Council for
adoption.
2. That a date be set for the next review of the Code of Conduct.
3. That a training programme for the new adopted Code be developed and presented
by the Monitoring Officer after the next Council elections for the benefit of all new and
existing councillors.

SUMMARY OF REPORT
On 23 December 2020, the Local Government Association (LGA) published a model
Councillor Code of Conduct (the Model Code). The Model Code, attached at Annex A, is
described by the LGA as “designed to protect our democratic role, encourage good conduct
and safeguard the public’s trust in local government.” The LGA describes the development
of the Model Code as being “in association with key partners and after extensive
consultation with the sector, as part of its work on supporting all tiers of local government
to continue to aspire to high standards of leadership and performance.”
All councils are required to have a local Councillor Code of Conduct and the Model Code
is provided for use by councils as a template to adopt in whole and/or with local
amendments should they wish to. It is the role of the Standards Committee to determine
whether to recommend the Model Code, amended or otherwise to Full Council for inclusion
in the Council’s Constitution.
While the Council administers code of conduct complaints on behalf of parish and town
councils in the Borough, the adoption of a Code is a matter for each council.
The report presents the Model Code, compares it to the Council’s current Code of Conduct,
attached at Annex B, raises specific issues to consider in relation to amendments and offers
choices to the Committee. The report also includes at Annex C the results from the local
consultation held in autumn 2020 on the best practice proposals from the Committee for
Standards in Public Life.

7

BACKGROUND
1.

The Community Vision and Corporate Delivery Plan were adopted in February
2020 and set out the strategic priorities for the council. It identified six key
strategic themes: Safe, Strong Communities
 Enriching Lives
 A Clean and Green Borough
 Right Homes, Right Places
 Keeping the Borough Moving
 Changing the Way We Work For You & Being the Best We Can Be

2.

Full details of the Council’s plan and the actions which will deliver these priorities
are published on the Council’s website. These themes/priorities and the Corporate
Delivery Plan demonstrate how the Council meets its legal obligation to be
efficient, effective and economical. This report concerns good governance in the
Council and is relevant to the Corporate Priority, “Changing the Way We Work for
You and Being the Best We Can Be.”

3.

The Localism Act requires all Councils to have a local Member Code of Conduct.
The Council’s current Code was adopted in 2012 and is largely based on the
Council’s Pre-Localism Act code (amended appropriately) and taking into account
the advice which was in circulation at that time.

ANALYSIS OF ISSUES
New LGA Model Code
4.

In its January 2020 report into Local Government Ethical Standards, the
Committee for Standards in Public Life (CPSL) included a best practice
recommendation for local authorities to the adopt a Code of Conduct based on a
model produced by the Local Government Association (LGA).

5.

When researching the local Codes of Conduct, the CPSL found there was
considerable variation in the length, quality and clarity of codes of conduct. They
believed that this created confusion among members of the public, and among
councillors who represent more than one tier of local government. This is a limited
issue in Wokingham BC and for the other Berkshire unitaries. All six councils may
have councillors serving on the Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Authority, and in
Wokingham borough, we have 17 town and parish councils.

6.

The LGA has produced a model code of conduct, which is based on the CPSL best
practice recommendations and the expectation is that all councils should adopt it
as a minimum, but with provision for additional local variations.

7.

Discussions with Monitoring Officers from neighbouring authorities indicate a
collective leaning towards adoption of the Model Code albeit with some variations.
Most intend to take the issue to upcoming meetings of their Standards Committees
(or equivalent).

8.

Appendix C of the Model Code lists the CPSL’s 15 Best Practice
Recommendations and notes that the Government is yet to respond to the

8

recommendations made by CPSL, some of which require legislative changes. It
should be noted that the Government’s response, when it comes, may require a
change to the Council’s adopted Code. The date of the response is unknown.
9.

One of the CPSL’s best practice recommendations is that principal authorities
should review their Code of Conduct annually and regularly seek, where possible,
the views of the public, community organisations and neighbouring authorities.
Wokingham undertook a consultation in autumn 2020 on the CPSL’s best practice
recommendations the results of which are presented at Annex C.

10.

The Committee should also consider how frequently the Code is to be reviewed.
The annual review recommended by CPSL is best practice and there is clearly
merit in ensuring that the Code is current and having an opportunity to deal with
any obvious points that need amending. On the other hand, concern has been
raised about the practicality and feasibility of annual reviews with consultation built
in having regard to the work programme of the Committee generally. If an annual
review is not considered feasible, a solution may be an annual light touch health
check and a full review as recommended by the Monitoring Officer dependent on
the issues which arise from its operation and the complaints received.

11.

The Model Code:








Continues to require upholding the Seven principles of public life (the Nolan
Principles)
Contains twelve obligations with guidance
Sets out legal requirements
Defines a councillor as a member or co-opted member of a local authority
Is written in the first person
Sets out when the Code applies: ‘acting in capacity as a councillor or
representative of the Council’, adds ‘claiming to act’, ‘giving the impression you
are acting’ and ‘referring publicly to your role as councillor or use knowledge
you could only obtain in your role as a councillor’
Introduces:concept of ‘acting with civility’
the word ‘harassment’ and a definition of bullying and harassment
reference to social media
specific reference to treating employees of the Council, partners and
volunteers for the local authority with respect
o under the Obligation to comply with the Code of Conduct: to undertake
Code of conduct training, co-operate with any investigation or
determination, not to intimate persons administering or investigating a
complaint and to comply with any sanctions
o
o
o
o





Requires registration of gifts and hospitality with a value of £50 and over
Maintains the concept of ‘bringing the council into disrepute’
Codifies the position on declaration and participation in relation to personal
interests that already applies in the Council

9

Specific Issues for Consideration
12.

There are several points to bring to the attention of the Committee for its
consideration of whether local variations to the Model Code are appropriate.

Social Media
13.

The Council’s current Code does not mention social media and while that has
not prevented consideration of code of conduct complaints arising from social
media activity, it is helpful that the Model Code states that application of the
Code extends to, “all forms of communication and interaction, including … in
electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and comments.”

14.

Whilst this reference makes it clear that social media activity is covered by the
Code, it does not provide any guidance specific to social media on the issue of
when a councillor is acting as a councillor, claiming to act as a councillor and/or
a representative of the council, giving the impression you are acting that you are
acting as a councillor and/or as a representative of your council and public
reference to your role as a councillor or use knowledge that you could only use in
our role as a councillor.

15.

Respondents to the LGA consultation were evenly split about whether there was
sufficient reference to the use of social media in the code and 69% (including the
Council in its response) said social media guidance should be integrated into the
Code. As there is no further guidance in the Model Code, and in response to the
Committee’s previous noting of an increase in complaints relating to Councillors’
use of social media, there is a separate report on this meeting’s agenda that
addresses this issue.

Gift and Hospitality Threshold
16.

The monetary threshold of £50 and over for registration of gift and hospitality in the
Model Code is more than the £25 threshold in the Council’s current Code of
Conduct. To assist the Committee in determining the appropriate threshold, the
LGA reports that over seven in ten respondents (72 per cent) supported £25 as
the threshold for registering gifts and hospitality. 9% of respondents thought that
the threshold should be lower than £25 while 16 per cent felt that it should be
higher.

Dealing with Disrespect
17.

Under the obligation of respect, the Model Code advises councillors to ‘report’
members of the public who are abusive, intimidatory or threatening to the local
authority. Given the jurisdiction of the local authority and the police for example,
consideration can be given to whether the word ‘report’ is amended to ‘seek
guidance from’. Alternatively, councillors could be encouraged to speak with the
Monitoring Officer who is able to advise on such matters.

Exempt Information
18.

When explaining the obligation in relation to ‘Confidentiality and access to
information’ the Model Code refers to information that would be contained in what

10

is known as ‘Part 2 papers’ locally in the Council. This is information, that, in
accordance with Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 and the
Council’s Access to Information Procedure Rules has been deemed to be exempt
information and were historically presented on pink paper to councillors in advance
of a meeting.
19.

In the context of these constitutional Rules and the law, ‘confidential’ has a
restricted meaning: ‘information furnished to the Council by a Government
Department upon terms which forbid the disclosure of the information to the public
and information the disclosure of which to the public is prohibited by law or order
of the Court’.

20.

In practice, there is limited confidential information whereas exempt information,
on the other hand, is in practice the majority of what is contained in pink papers.
Exempt information is defined by seven categories which include legal professional
privilege and information relating to the financial and business affairs of the
Council.

21.

The operation of this clause is quite complicated, and it contrasts with the plain
English adopted throughout the rest of the document. It may be that the Committee
wishes to adopt a more straightforward obligation on councillors when dealing with
Exempt and Confidential information, namely to seek advice from the Monitoring
Officer before releasing any paper which is marked, or could reasonably be
assumed to be, confidential or exempt.

Feedback from Consultation
22.

At its meeting on 2 March 2020, the Committee considered the WBC Code of
Conduct for Councillors in light of the Best Practice principles set out in the
report of the Committee on Standards in Public Life (CSPL).

23.

The CSPL report (January 2019) had concluded that the vast majority of local
government Members and Officers wished to maintain the highest standards of
conduct. However, there were ongoing examples of bullying, harassment and
disruptive behaviours. The CSPL also identified risks around conflicts of interest,
gifts and hospitality and expressed concern about the increasing complexity of
decision making which put governance procedures under increasing strain.

24.

The CSPL report included a list of Best Practice principles and suggested that
each local authority compare existing arrangements against the list. The CSPL
report stated: “Our best practice recommendations are directed to local
authorities, and we expect that any local authority can and should implement
them”.

25.

At its meeting on 12 October 2020, the Committee agreed a public consultation
exercise. The public consultation ran until 11 December 2020. A number of
comments were received from Town and Parish Councils, individual Members
from the Borough, Town and Parish Councils and members of the public. The
consultation responses are set out at Annex C for the Committee’s information.

11

OPTIONS
26.

There are several choices open to the Committee:
(a) recommend no change to the current Code of Conduct and resolve to continue
with the existing Code of Conduct
(b) recommend to Council the adoption of the Model Code with or without potential
amendments
(c) identify issues and ask for a report to come to a later meeting of the Committee
that addresses those issues
(d) resolve to await the outcome of the Government consideration of the
Committee for Standards in Public Life recommendations.

TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
27.

Until such time as the Council agree to adopt a new or revised Code of Conduct
the existing version will continue to meet the Council’s statutory requirements.

OTHER IMPLICATIONS (COMMUNICATION)
28.

Town and Parish Councils currently have a choice to adopt the Council’s Code of
Conduct or a model code produced by the National Association of Local Councils
(NALC). The model code will apply to all levels of local government and when
available, towns and parishes will need to decide how to proceed locally.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe funding pressures, particularly in the face of the COVID-19
crisis. It is therefore imperative that Council resources are focused on the
vulnerable and on its highest priorities.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Revenue or
Capital?

£0

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
Yes

£0

Yes

N/A

£0

Yes

N/A

N/A

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
None
Cross-Council Implications (how does this decision impact on other Council services,
including properties and priorities?)

Public Sector Equality Duty
Under the Equality Act 2010, Section 149, a public authority must, in the exercise of its

12

functions, have due regard to the need to—
 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that
is prohibited by or under this Act;
 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;
 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.
An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is not relevant to this report.

Reasons for considering the report in Part 2
Not applicable
List of Background Papers
LGA Model Member Code of Conduct: Consultation response analysis, November 2020
Contact Andrew Moulton
Telephone No Tel: 07747 777298

Service Governance
Email
andrew.moulton@wokingham.gov.uk

13

This page is intentionally left blank

ANNEX A

Local Government Association
Model Councillor Code of Conduct 2020

Joint statement
The role of councillor across all tiers of local government is a vital part of our country’s
system of democracy. It is important that as councillors we can be held accountable and all
adopt the behaviors and responsibilities associated with the role. Our conduct as an
individual councillor affects the reputation of all councillors. We want the role of councillor to
be one that people aspire to. We also want individuals from a range of backgrounds and
circumstances to be putting themselves forward to become councillors.
As councillors, we represent local residents, work to develop better services and deliver
local change. The public have high expectations of us and entrust us to represent our local
area; taking decisions fairly, openly, and transparently. We have both an individual and
collective responsibility to meet these expectations by maintaining high standards and
demonstrating good conduct, and by challenging behaviour which falls below expectations.
Importantly, we should be able to undertake our role as a councillor without being
intimidated, abused, bullied or threatened by anyone, including the general public.
This Code has been designed to protect our democratic role, encourage good conduct and
safeguard the public’s trust in local government.

23.12.2020

Page 1 of 17

15

Introduction
The Local Government Association (LGA) has developed this Model Councillor Code of
Conduct, in association with key partners and after extensive consultation with the sector,
as part of its work on supporting all tiers of local government to continue to aspire to high
standards of leadership and performance. It is a template for councils to adopt in whole
and/or with local amendments.
All councils are required to have a local Councillor Code of Conduct.
The LGA will undertake an annual review of this Code to ensure it continues to be fit- forpurpose, incorporating advances in technology, social media and changes in legislation. The
LGA can also offer support, training and mediation to councils and councillors on the
application of the Code and the National Association of Local Councils (NALC) and the
county associations of local councils can offer advice and support to town and parish
councils.

Definitions
For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, a “councillor” means a member or co-opted
member of a local authority or a directly elected mayor. A “co-opted member” is defined in
the Localism Act 2011 Section 27(4) as “a person who is not a member of the authority but
who

a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or;
b) is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or joint subcommittee of the authority;
and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting of that
committee or sub-committee”.
For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, “local authority” includes county councils, district
councils, London borough councils, parish councils, town councils, fire and rescue
authorities, police authorities, joint authorities, economic prosperity boards, combined
authorities and National Park authorities.

Purpose of the Code of Conduct
The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a councillor, in modelling the
behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal check and balance, and to set out
the type of conduct that could lead to action being taken against you. It is also to protect
you, the public, fellow councillors, local authority officers and the reputation of local
government. It sets out general principles of conduct expected of all councillors and your
specific obligations in relation to standards of conduct. The LGA encourages the use of
support, training and mediation prior to action being taken using the Code. The
fundamental aim of the Code is to create and maintain public confidence in the role of
councillor and local government.

23.12.2020

Page 2 of 17

16

General principles of councillor conduct
Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public services,
including ministers, civil servants, councillors and local authority officers; should uphold
the Seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the Nolan Principles.
Building on these principles, the following general principles have been developed
specifically for the role of councillor.
In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions:

•
•
•
•

I act with integrity and honesty
I act lawfully
I treat all persons fairly and with respect; and
I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the role of
councillor.

In undertaking my role:

•
•
•
•
•

I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local community
I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any
person
I avoid conflicts of interest
I exercise reasonable care and diligence; and
I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with my local
authority’s requirements and in the public interest.

Application of the Code of Conduct
This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of acceptance of
the office of councillor or attend your first meeting as a co-opted member and continues to
apply to you until you cease to be a councillor.
This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a councillor
which may include when:
•

you misuse your position as a councillor

•

Your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the public with
knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a councillor;

The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including:

23.12.2020

Page 3 of 17

17

•

at face-to-face meetings

•

at online or telephone meetings

•

in written communication

•

in verbal communication

•

in non-verbal communication

•

in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and
comments.

You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show leadership at all times
when acting as a councillor.
Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the Code of
Conduct, and you are encouraged to seek advice from your Monitoring Officer on any
matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct. Town and parish councillors are
encouraged to seek advice from their Clerk, who may refer matters to the Monitoring
Officer.

Standards of councillor conduct
This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct required
of you as a councillor. Should your conduct fall short of these standards, a complaint may
be made against you, which may result in action being taken.
Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and how they should be
followed.
General Conduct

1. Respect
As a councillor:

1.1 I treat other councillors and members of the public with respect.
1.2 I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of partner
organisations and those volunteering for the local authority with respect and
respect the role they play.
Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written word.
Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a councillor, you
can express, challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas, opinions and policies in a
robust but civil manner. You should not, however, subject individuals, groups of people or
organisations to personal attack.

23.12.2020

Page 4 of 17

18

In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. Rude and
offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in councillors.
In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If members of the
public are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are entitled to stop any
conversation or interaction in person or online and report them to the local authority, the
relevant social media provider or the police. This also applies to fellow councillors, where
action could then be taken under the Councillor Code of Conduct, and local authority
employees, where concerns should be raised in line with the local authority’s councillorofficer protocol.

2. Bullying, harassment and discrimination
As a councillor:

2.1 I do not bully any person.
2.2 I do not harass any person.
2.3 I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against any
person.
The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises bullying as
offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power
through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying might be
a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-off incident, happen face-to-face, on social media, in
emails or phone calls, happen in the workplace or at work social events and may not always
be obvious or noticed by others.
The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that causes
alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such conduct on at least
two occasions. It can include repeated attempts to impose unwanted communications and
contact upon a person in a manner that could be expected to cause distress or fear in any
reasonable person.
Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a protected
characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a person's
identity defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, gender reassignment,
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and
sexual orientation.
The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Councillors have a central
role to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the local authority's performance
and strategic aims, and that there is a strong vision and public commitment to equality
across public services.

23.12.2020

Page 5 of 17

19

3. Impartiality of officers of the council
As a councillor:

3.1 I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of
anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the local authority.
Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless they
are political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a way that would
undermine their neutrality. You can question officers in order to understand, for example,
their reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the content of a report that they
have written. However, you must not try and force them to act differently, change their
advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so would prejudice their professional
integrity.

4. Confidentiality and access to information
As a councillor:

4.1 I do not disclose information:
a. given to me in confidence by anyone
b. acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be
aware, is of a confidential nature, unless
i. I have received the consent of a person authorised to give it;
ii. I am required by law to do so;
iii. the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of
obtaining professional legal advice provided that the third
party agrees not to disclose the information to any other
person; or
iv. the disclosure is:
1. reasonable and in the public interest; and
2. made in good faith and in compliance with the
reasonable requirements of the local authority; and
3. I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its
release.

4.2 I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my role as a
councillor for the advancement of myself, my friends, my family members,
my employer or my business interests.

4.3 I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled to by
law.
Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings and printed
materials are open to the public, except in certain legally defined circumstances. You should
work on this basis, but there will be times when it is required by law that discussions,
documents and other information relating to or held by the local authority must be treated in
a confidential manner. Examples include personal data relating to individuals or information
relating to ongoing negotiations.

23.12.2020

Page 6 of 17

20

5. Disrepute
As a councillor:

5.1 I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute.
As a Councillor, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your community and your
actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary members of the
public. You should be aware that your actions might have an adverse impact on you, other
councillors and/or your local authority and may lower the public’s confidence in your or your
local authority’s ability to discharge your/it’s functions. For example, behaviour that is
considered dishonest and/or deceitful can bring your local authority into disrepute.
You are able to hold the local authority and fellow councillors to account and are able to
constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and processes undertaken by
the council whilst continuing to adhere to other aspects of this Code of Conduct.

6. Use of position
As a councillor:

6.1 I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the advantage or
disadvantage of myself or anyone else.
Your position as a member of the local authority provides you with certain opportunities,
responsibilities and privileges, and you make choices all the time that will impact others.
However, you should not take advantage of these opportunities to further your own or
others’ private interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly.

7. Use of local authority resources and facilities
As a councillor:

7.1 I do not misuse council resources.
7.2 I will, when using the resources of the local or authorising their use by
others:
a.
act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; and
b.
ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes unless
that use could reasonably be regarded as likely to facilitate, or be
conducive to, the discharge of the functions of the local authority or of
the office to which I have been elected or appointed.
You may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to assist you in
carrying out your duties as a councillor.
Examples include:

•
•
•
•
•

office support
stationery
equipment such as phones, and computers
transport
access and use of local authority buildings and rooms.

23.12.2020

Page 7 of 17

21

These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a councillor more effectively and
are not to be used for business or personal gain. They should be used in accordance with
the purpose for which they have been provided and the local authority’s own policies
regarding their use.

8. Complying with the Code of Conduct
As a Councillor:

8.1 I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local authority.
8.2 I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or
determination.

8.3 I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is likely to be
involved with the administration of any investigation or proceedings.

8.4 I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a finding that I have
breached the Code of Conduct.
It is extremely important for you as a councillor to demonstrate high standards, for you to
have your actions open to scrutiny and for you not to undermine public trust in the local
authority or its governance. If you do not understand or are concerned about the local
authority’s processes in handling a complaint you should raise this with your Monitoring
Officer.
Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority

9. Interests
As a councillor:

9.1 I register and disclose my interests.
Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to establish and
maintain a register of interests of members of the authority .
You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority employees and fellow
councillors know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest. The register
is a public document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue arises. The register
also protects you by allowing you to demonstrate openness and a willingness to be held
accountable. You are personally responsible for deciding whether or not you should
disclose an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for you to know early on if others think
that a potential conflict might arise. It is also important that the public know about any
interest that might have to be disclosed by you or other councillors when making or taking
part in decisions, so that decision making is seen by the public as open and honest. This
helps to ensure that public confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained.
You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as set
out in Table 1, is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011.
Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing interests. If in
doubt, you should always seek advice from your Monitoring Officer.

23.12.2020

Page 8 of 17

22

10. Gifts and hospitality
As a councillor:

10.1

I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, which
could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or a reasonable
suspicion of influence on my part to show favour from persons seeking to
acquire, develop or do business with the local authority or from persons
who may apply to the local authority for any permission, licence or other
significant advantage.

10.2

I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality with an
estimated value of at least £50 within 28 days of its receipt.

10.3

I register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or
hospitality that I have been offered but have refused to accept.

In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you should
exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or which you reasonably
believe to be) offered to you because you are a councillor. The presumption should always
be not to accept significant gifts or hospitality. However, there may be times when such a
refusal may be difficult if it is seen as rudeness in which case you could accept it but must
ensure it is publicly registered. However, you do not need to register gifts and hospitality
which are not related to your role as a councillor, such as Christmas gifts from your friends
and family. It is also important to note that it is appropriate to accept normal expenses and
hospitality associated with your duties as a councillor. If you are unsure, do contact your
Monitoring Officer for guidance.

23.12.2020

Page 9 of 17

23

Appendices
Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life
The principles are:
Selflessness
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.
Integrity
Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people or
organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They should not
act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves,
their family, or their friends. They must disclose and resolve any interests and relationships.
Objectivity
Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, using
the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.
Accountability
Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions and
must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.
Openness
Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent manner.
Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and lawful
reasons for so doing.
Honesty
Holders of public office should be truthful.
Leadership
Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They should
actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge poor
behaviour wherever it occurs.

23.12.2020

Page 10 of 17

24

Appendix B Registering
interests
Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office you must
register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out in
Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as described in “The Relevant
Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012”. You should also register
details of your other personal interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 2
(Other Registerable Interests).
“Disclosable pecuniary interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are
aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 below.
"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband
or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners.

1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28
days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a registered
interest, notify the Monitoring Officer.

2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the
councillor, or a person connected with the councillor, being subject to violence
or intimidation.

3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer with
the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring Officer
agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register.
Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Disclosable
Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the interest, not
participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room
unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not
have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an interest.
Dispensation may be granted in limited circumstances, to enable you to participate
and vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest.

5. Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered or is
being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of your executive function,
you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or
further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it
Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other
Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose the interest. You
may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at
the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter
and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it
23.12.2020

Page 11 of 17

25

is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.
Disclosure of Non- R e g i s t e r a b l e Interests

7. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest
or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest set out in Table 1) or a
financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, you must disclose the
interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed
to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote
on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a
dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of
the interest.

8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects –
a. your own financial interest or well-being;
b. a financial interest or well-being of a friend, relative, close associate; or
c. a body included in those you need to disclose under
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1
you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the
meeting after disclosing your interest the following test should be applied

9. Where a matter affects your financial interest or well-being:
a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of
inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and;

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it
would affect your view of the wider public interest
You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to
speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on
the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a
dispensation.
If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.

10. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you have
made an executive decision in relation to that business, you must make sure that any
written statement of that decision records the existence and nature of your interest.

23.12.2020

Page 12 of 17

26

Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in the
Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012.
Subject
Employment, office, trade,
profession or vocation

Description
Any employment, office, trade,
profession or vocation carried on for
profit or gain.
[Any unpaid directorship.]

Sponsorship

Any payment or provision of any other
financial benefit (other than from the
council) made to the councillor during the
previous 12-month period for expenses
incurred by him/her in carrying out
his/her duties as a councillor, or towards
his/her election expenses.
This includes any payment or financial
benefit from a trade union within the
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts

Any contract made between the
councillor or his/her spouse or civil
partner or the person with whom the

23.12.2020

Page 13 of 17

27

councillor is living as if they were
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which
such person is a partner, or an incorporated
body of which such person is a director* or
a body that such person has a beneficial
interest in the securities of*) and the council
—
(a) under which goods or services are to be
provided or works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.
Land and Property

Any beneficial interest in land which is
within the area of the council.
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude,
interest or right in or over land which does
not give the councillor or his/her spouse or
civil partner or the person with whom the
councillor is living as if they were spouses/
civil partners (alone or jointly with another)
a right to occupy or to receive income.

Licenses

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to
occupy land in the area of the council for a
month or longer
Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s
knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the council; and
(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor,
or his/her spouse or civil partner or the
person with whom the councillor is living as
if they were spouses/ civil partners is a
partner of or a director* of or has a
beneficial interest in the securities* of.

Corporate tenancies

Securities

23.12.2020

Any beneficial interest in securities* of a
body where—
(a) that body (to the councillor’s
knowledge) has a place of business or
land in the area of the council; and
(b) either—
(i) ) the total nominal value of the
securities* exceeds £25,000 or one
hundredth of the total issued share
capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of
more than one class, the total nominal
value of the shares of any one class in
which the councillor, or his/ her spouse or
civil partner or the person with whom the
councillor is living as if they were
Page 14 of 17

28

spouses/civil partners has a beneficial
interest exceeds one hundredth of the
total issued share capital of that class.
* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and
provident society.

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act
2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building
society.
Table 2: Other Registerable Interests

You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is
likely to affect:
a) any body of which you are in general control or management and to which you
are nominated or appointed by your authority
b) any body
(i) exercising functions of a public nature
(ii) any body directed to charitable purposes or
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion
or policy (including any political party or trade union)

23.12.2020

Page 15 of 17

29

Appendix C – the Committee on Standards in Public Life
The LGA has undertaken this review whilst the Government continues to consider the
recommendations made by the Committee on Standards in Public Life in their report on
Local Government Ethical Standards. If the Government chooses to implement any of the
recommendations, this could require a change to this Code.
The recommendations cover:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Recommendations for changes to the Localism Act 2011 to clarify in law when the
Code of Conduct applies
The introduction of sanctions
An appeals process through the Local Government Ombudsman
Changes to the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests)
Regulations 2012
Updates to the Local Government Transparency Code
Changes to the role and responsibilities of the Independent Person
That the criminal offences in the Localism Act 2011 relating to Disclosable
Pecuniary Interests should be abolished

The Local Government Ethical Standards report also includes Best Practice
recommendations. These are:
Best practice 1: Local authorities should include prohibitions on bullying and harassment in
codes of conduct. These should include a definition of bullying and harassment,
supplemented with a list of examples of the sort of behaviour covered by such a definition.
Best practice 2: Councils should include provisions in their code of conduct requiring
councillors to comply with any formal standards investigation and prohibiting trivial or
malicious allegations by councillors.
Best practice 3: Principal authorities should review their code of conduct each year and
regularly seek, where possible, the views of the public, community organisations and
neighbouring authorities.
Best practice 4: An authority’s code should be readily accessible to both councillors and
the public, in a prominent position on a council’s website and available in council premises.
Best practice 5: Local authorities should update their gifts and hospitality register at least
once per quarter, and publish it in an accessible format, such as CSV.
Best practice 6: Councils should publish a clear and straightforward public interest test
against which allegations are filtered.
Best practice 7: Local authorities should have access to at least two Independent
Persons.
Best practice 8: An Independent Person should be consulted as to whether to undertake a
formal investigation on an allegation, and should be given the option to

23.12.2020

Page 16 of 17

30

review and comment on allegations which the responsible officer is minded to dismiss
as being without merit, vexatious, or trivial.
Best practice 9: Where a local authority makes a decision on an allegation of misconduct
following a formal investigation, a decision notice should be published as soon as possible
on its website, including a brief statement of facts, the provisions of the code engaged by
the allegations, the view of the Independent Person, the reasoning of the decision-maker,
and any sanction applied.
Best practice 10: A local authority should have straightforward and accessible guidance
on its website on how to make a complaint under the code of conduct, the process for
handling complaints, and estimated timescales for investigations and outcomes.
Best practice 11: Formal standards complaints about the conduct of a parish councillor
towards a clerk should be made by the chair or by the parish council, rather than the clerk in
all but exceptional circumstances.
Best practice 12: Monitoring Officers’ roles should include providing advice, support and
management of investigations and adjudications on alleged breaches to parish councils
within the remit of the principal authority. They should be provided with adequate training,
corporate support and resources to undertake this work.
Best practice 13: A local authority should have procedures in place to address any
conflicts of interest when undertaking a standards investigation. Possible steps should
include asking the Monitoring Officer from a different authority to undertake the
investigation.
Best practice 14: Councils should report on separate bodies they have set up or which
they own as part of their annual governance statement and give a full picture of their
relationship with those bodies. Separate bodies created by local authorities should abide by
the Nolan principle of openness and publish their board agendas and minutes and annual
reports in an accessible place.
Best practice 15: Senior officers should meet regularly with political group leaders or group
whips to discuss standards issues.

The LGA has committed to reviewing the Code on an annual basis to ensure it is still
fit for purpose.

23.12.2020

Page 17 of 17

31

This page is intentionally left blank

Annex B
CHAPTER 9.2 - CODE OF CONDUCT FOR COUNCILLORS
9.2.1 Introduction
This Code of Conduct applies to Councillors and Co-opted Members whenever they are
acting as a Member or as a representative of the Council or when they claim to act or give
the impression of acting as a representative of the Council.
It does not apply to when the Councillor or Co-opted Member is acting in a private
capacity.
When carrying out their public role, Councillors and Co-opted Members should always
have regard to the seven principles of public life. These are: selflessness, integrity,
objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. Councillors and Co-opted
Members should also read the Code of Conduct together with the Member/Officer Protocol
and other sections of the Council’s Constitution relating to ethical and financial probity.
Any person may make a complaint if a Councillor or Co-opted Member does not act in
accordance with this Code. The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsmen may
also regard a breach of the Code as incompatible with good administration, and may make
a finding of maladministration by the Council in some circumstances. It is the Councillor
and Co-opted Member’s sole responsibility to comply with the Code.
A Members’ Interest form is provided by the Monitoring Officer to register interests. It
should be noted that the form will be published on the Council’s website. When a
Councillor or Co-opted Member declares an interest at a meeting of the Council, they
should be aware that this will be noted in the Minutes of the Meeting, which is a public
document, and also on the Member’s page on the website.
If any Councillor or Co-opted Member is unsure about any part of the Code of Conduct,
they are urged to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or Deputy Monitoring Officer.
There are three areas to the Code of Conduct:
a)

Rules about registration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Personal
Interests with the Monitoring Officer, using the Members Interest Form Rule 9.2.3

b)

Rules about declaring interests in meetings where items on the agenda conflict
with those interests (Rules 9.2.4, 9.2.5 and 9.2.6)

c)

Rules about general behaviour (Rule 9.2.8)

9.2.2 Interpretation
a)

“Co-opted Member” means a person who is a member of any committee or subcommittee of the Council or is a member of and represents the authority on any
joint committee of the Council and who is entitled to vote on any question which
falls to be decided at any committee or sub-committee.

b)

“Councillor” means a Member or Co-opted Member of this Council.

33

“Meeting” means any meeting of:

c)

d)

i)

the Council;

ii)

the Executive of the Council, including when making an Individual Executive
Decision;

iii)

any of the Council’s or the Executive’s committees, sub-committees, jointcommittees, joint sub-committees, or area committees;

“Member” includes a co-opted Member and an appointed Member of this Council

9.2.3 Registration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Personal Interests
9.2.3.1
Within 28 days of this Code being adopted by the Council, OR the Councillor’s election,
OR the Co-opted Member’s appointment (whichever is later) Councillors must register with
the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out in Appendices A
and B.
9.2.3.2
Upon the re-election of the Councillor or the re-appointment of the Co-opted Member,
Councillors must within 28 days re-register with the Monitoring Officer any interests in
Appendices A and B.
9.2.3.3
Councillors must register with the Monitoring Officer any change to interests or new
interests in Appendices A and B within 28 days of becoming aware of the change.
9.2.3.4
Councillors need not register any interest which the Monitoring Officer agrees is a
‘sensitive interest’ A sensitive interest is one which, if made public, could lead to the
Councillor or a person connected to a Councillor being subject to violence or intimidation.
9.2.4 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests at Meetings
9.2.4.1 Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to an interest in Appendix A,
Councillors must do the following:
9.2.4.2 They should declare their interest at the beginning of the meeting when asked to
do so by the Chairman or Mayor, or if not then, they must do so before the matter is
discussed. They must do so regardless of whether or not the interest is registered in their
Members Interest form.
9.2.4.3 Where a matter arises at a meeting which is a sensitive interest as defined under
Rule 9.2.3.4 Councillors do not have to declare the exact nature of their interest but must
follow the rules regarding non-participation, in Rules in 9.2.4.4 and 9.2.4.5
9.2.4.4 When the item is introduced at the meeting, Councillors may continue to attend the
meeting but only for the purpose of making representations, answering questions or giving
evidence provided that the public are also allowed to attend the meeting for the same
purpose.

34

9.2.4.5 They must then leave the room before the matter is discussed and voted upon.
9.2.5 Declaration of Personal Interests at Meetings
9.2.5.1
Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to or affects an interest in Appendix B or
a financial interest of the Councillor, a friend, relative or close associate (and it is not a
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest listed in Appendix A), Councillors must do the following:
9.2.5.2
They should declare the interest at the beginning of the meeting when asked to do so by
the Chairman or Mayor as a “Personal Interest” or if not then, they must do so before the
matter is discussed or voted upon. They must do so regardless of whether or not the
interest is registered in their Members Interest form.
9.2.5.3
Where a matter arises at a meeting which is a sensitive interest as defined under Rule
9.2.3.4 Councillors do not have to declare the exact nature of their interest
9.2.5.4
They may however participate in the discussion and vote on the matter, subject to Rule
9.2.6
9.2.6 Declaration of Prejudicial Interests at Meetings
9.2.6.1
Where the matter affects the declared interest under Rule 9.2.5.1 more than the majority of
people in the area affected by the decision, and a reasonable member of the public would
think the Councillor’s view of the public interest would be adversely affected, the Councillor
must do the following:
9.2.6.2
They should declare this as a Prejudicial interest at the beginning of the meeting when
asked to do so by the Chairman or Mayor, or if not then, they must do so before the matter
is discussed.
9.2.6.3
Where a matter arises at a meeting which is a sensitive interest as defined under Rule
9.2.3.4 Councillors do not have to declare the exact nature of their interest but must follow
the rules regarding non-participation, in Rules 9.2.6.4 and 9.2.6.5
9.2.6.4
When the item is introduced at the meeting, Councillors may continue to attend the
meeting but only for the purpose of making representations, answering questions or giving
evidence provided that the public are also allowed to attend the meeting for the same
purpose.
9.2.6.5
They must then leave the room before the matter is discussed or voted upon.

35

9.2.7 Dispensations
9.2.7.1
On a written request, the Monitoring Officer or Deputy Monitoring Officer may grant a
Councillor a dispensation to participate in a discussion and/or vote on a matter at a
meeting where they would otherwise not be allowed to if the Monitoring Officer or Deputy
Monitoring Officer believes that the number of Councillors otherwise prohibited from
taking part in the meeting would impede the transaction of the business; or it is in the
interests of the inhabitants in the Council’s area to allow the Councillor to take part or it is
otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation. The dispensation will last no longer than 4
years from the date of the dispensation.
9.2.8 Behaviour
9.2.8.1
Councillors must not behave such a way that a reasonable person would regard as
disrespectful to others.
9.2.8.2
Councillors must not act in a way which a reasonable person would regard as bullying, or
in any way which is intimidating to others. Supporting Guidance on Bullying and
Intimidation can be found at Appendix C.
9.2.8.3
Councillors must not seek to improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any
person.
9.2.8.4
Councillors must only use the resources of the Council when undertaking Council
business.
9.2.8.5
Councillors must not disclose information which is confidential or where disclosure is
prohibited by law, unless he or she has the consent of the person authorised to give it, or
he or she is required by law to do so.
9.2.8.6
Councillors must respect the impartiality of officers and not put undue pressure on them.
9.2.8.7
Councillors must not do anything which may cause their Council to breach any of the
equality enactments (as defined in the Equality Act 2010).
9.2.8 8
Councillors must notify the Monitoring Officer of any gifts or hospitality worth more than an
estimated value of £25 which the Councillor has received by virtue of his or her office or
any gifts or hospitality worth more than an estimated value of £25 which they have been
offered but which they subsequently declined.

36

APPENDIX A
DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS
Interests defined by regulations made under s30(3) of the Localism Act 2011 and
described in the table below.
(In the extracts from the Regulations below, ‘M’ means you and ‘relevant person’ means
you and your partner). “Partner” means a spouse or civil partner of M, or a person with
whom M is living as husband and wife or a person with whom M is living as if they were
civil partners
Subject
Employment, office,
trade, profession or
vocation

Prescribed description
Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on
for profit or gain.

Sponsorship

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than
from the relevant authority) made or provided within the relevant
period in respect of any expenses incurred by M in carrying out
duties as a member, or towards the election expenses of M.
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union
within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations
(Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts

Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a
body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and
the relevant authority—
a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are
to be executed; and
b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the
relevant authority.

Licences

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the
area of the relevant authority for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies

Any tenancy where (to M’s knowledge)—
a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and
b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a
beneficial interest.

Securities

Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where—
a) that body (to M’s knowledge) has a place of business or land in
the area of the relevant authority; and
b) either—
i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or
ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the
total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the
relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.

37

These descriptions on Disclosable Pecuniary Interests above are subject to the following
definitions;
The Act
Body in which the relevant person
has a beneficial interest

Director

Land

M
Member
Relevant authority
Relevant period

Relevant person

Securities

means the Localism Act 2011
means a firm in which the relevant person is a
partner or a body corporate of which the
relevant person is a director, or in the
securities of which the relevant person has a
beneficial interest;
includes a member of the committee of
management of an industrial and provident
society;
excludes an easement, servitude, interest or
right in or over land which does not carry with
it a right for the relevant person (alone or
jointly with another) to occupy the land or to
receive income;
means a member of a relevant authority;
includes a co-opted member;
means the authority of which M is a member;
means the period of 12 months ending with the
day on which M gives a notification for the
purposes of section 30(1) or section 31(7), as
the case may be, of the Act;
means M or any other person referred to in
section 30(3)(b) of the Act;
means shares, debentures, debenture stock,
loan stock, bonds, units of a collective
investment scheme within the meaning of the
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and
other securities of any description, other than
money deposited with a building society.

IMPORTANT NOTE:
Under s34 of the Localism Act 2011 it is a criminal offence if a Member or co-opted
Member:
a)

fails to notify the Monitoring Officer of any Disclosable Pecuniary Interest within
28 days of election;

b)

fails to disclose a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest at a meeting of the Council if
that interest is not included on the register;

c)

participates in any discussion or vote on a matter in which they have a
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest;

d)

fails to notify the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of a Disclosable Pecuniary
Interest that is not included on the register that they have disclosed to a meeting;

e)

as an Executive Member discharging a function acting alone i.e. an Individual
Executive Member Decision, and having a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in such
a matter, fails to notify the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of the interest;

38

f)

As an Executive Member discharging a function acting alone, i.e. an Individual
Executive Member Decision, and having a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in such
a matter, participates in any steps, or further steps in relation to the matter.

f)

knowingly or recklessly providing information that is false or misleading in
notifying the Monitoring Officer of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or in
disclosing such an interest to a meeting.

39

APPENDIX B
REGISTERED PERSONAL INTERESTS
Councillors must register:
i)

any body of which the Councillor is in a position of general control or
management and to which he/she is appointed or nominated by the Council;

ii)

any body





exercising functions of a public nature; or
directed to charitable purposes; or
one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or
policy (including any political party or trade union),
of which the Councillor is a member or in a position of general control or
management;

40

APPENDIX C
Guidance on Bullying and Intimidation
(Rule 9.2.8.2 Code of Conduct)
Rule 9.2.8.2 of the Code of Conduct says: Councillors must not act in a way which a
reasonable person would regard as bullying, or in any way which is intimidating to others.
The following guidance is based on Standards for England Guidance, now archived after it
was abolished by the Localism Act 2011, as well as guidance issued by ACAS i.
It is important to remember that such behaviour will only be caught by the Code of
Conduct if a Member is acting, or giving the impression they are acting, as a Member of
the Authority, and not in his or her private capacity.
What is ‘bullying’ and ‘intimidation’?
Using ACAS guidance as a starting point, the Standards Committee has agreed a
definition of bullying as ‘offensive, intimidating or malicious behaviour, an abuse or misuse
of power through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient’. A
victim’s obvious vulnerability will be taken into account when assessing whether bullying
has occurred.
Bullying conduct can involve behaving in an abusive or threatening way, or making
allegations about people in public, in the company of their colleagues, through the press or
in blogs. It may happen once or be part of a pattern of behaviour, although minor isolated
incidents are unlikely to be considered bullying. It is also unlikely that a Member will be
found guilty of bullying when both parties have contributed to a breakdown in relations.
Bullying should be contrasted with the legitimate challenges which a Member can make in
challenging policy or scrutinising performance. Contributing to debates in Council meetings
about policy and asking officers to explain the rationale for their professional opinions are
to be encouraged. All Members should feel free to challenge fellow Councillors and
professional Officers as to why their views are held. However, Members need to be careful
about criticism which becomes offensive in nature which will cross the line of what a
reasonable person would find acceptable.
Criticism of Officers
The Council is under a legal obligation to ensure that officers work in a safe environment
and the same rules about their interaction with the public apply equally to their work with
Members. Anyone should feel free to express disagreement with officers, so long as it is
done in an appropriate way. Officers should make decisions which are unbiased, and
attempts to coerce them or persuade them to act in a particular way to a point where to do
so would prejudice their professional integrity would not be acceptable.
Examples of intimidation and bullying from the archived Standards for England
website:
Councillor W. was a Member of a town council in the East of England conducted a
relentless campaign of destructive criticism against the clerk, councillors and the council.
This campaign included making unsubstantiated and inappropriate complaints about the
clerk in website postings, newsletters and numerous letters. The councillor’s behaviour
placed a significant drain on both council resources and members’ time, caused staff great
stress and ill health, and disrupted the normal running of the council.

41

Councillor S was a Member of a metropolitan authority in the North West of England.
He verbally abused a woman who worked as a cleaner for the Council, after a minor
traffic accident. Councillor S told her that he was going to report her to her employer
and get her sacked. The tribunal decided that a reasonable person with knowledge
of the circumstances would consider that the Councillor had bullied and threatened
the cleaner.
Councillor P was a Member of a district council in the East Midlands. He was
abusive and aggressive towards an officer, shouting at her and publicly threatened to
sack another officer. He also improperly put pressure on staff involved in
discussions with their trade union and in doing so compromised their impartiality.
The tribunal found his behaviour had caused others unnecessary fear and ill health.

1

Bullying and harassment at work: A guide for managers, ACAS June 2014 and Archived content for
Standards for England; guidance on ‘Bullying and Intimidation’ available upon request from the
Borough Solicitor, or to download:

42

Annex C

WBC Code of Conduct Consultation - Consultation Feedback

Response from: Charvil Parish Council
The consultation document was considered at our recent Council meeting, and
they were happy with it (after a long discussion about the maximum amount for
gifts before having to declare – which is purely academic as none of them have
ever been offered anything!!!).
The only point that we had was that No. 15 is irrelevant to us as a non-political
council, so we would just delete it when adopting a revised code.
Finchampstead Parish Council
Best practice 1: Agree with proposed change.
Best practice 5: No strong view as it rarely affects us, but £100 seems very high.
A compromise position of £50 could be appropriate.
Best practice 9: There should still be an informal route for resolving breaches of
the code, provided this can progress to a formal review if it cannot be resolved
informally. No strong view on whether the outcomes of these informal reviews
should be published. Should complaints lodged but not investigated be published,
along with the reasons – ref Best Practice 6?
Best practice 11: Agree that there should be a more specific approach rather than
leaving it to the Town or Parish Council’s discretion. However, it is imperative that
a Clerk is able to make a complaint direct rather than having to get the backing of
the Chair or the Council, unless the Clerk wishes to do this. Likewise a Councillor
should be able to make a complaint direct.
Agree that Town/Parish Councils should take corporate responsibility rather than
leaving it to the Clerk, but there has to be some confidentiality, at least at an early
stage. It would be unreasonable for a whole Council to know about a complaint
against a Councillor at an early stage, particularly if the complaint was from the
Clerk. It could be up to the Town or Parish Council how they deal with this, it
would be difficult for a Clerk to act independently – they would at least have to
involve the Chair, or if the complaint was against the Chair, the Vice Chair. In
Finchampstead we would probably use our Finance & General Management
Committee, or a Sub-Committee which reports to that Committee.
Ruscombe Parish Council
Ruscombe Parish Council acknowledge this Code of Conduct and agree with it.

43

Twyford Parish Council
The Council have reviewed the Code of Conduct potential changes and agreed the
following:
Best practice 1 – agreed to the proposed changes.
Best practice 5 – a £25 value of declarable gifts.
Best practice 9 – select option 2.
Best practice 11 – approved.
Winnersh Parish Council
Best practice 1 - Winnersh Parish Council fully support that guidance on the
use and potential misuse of Social Media should also be included in the Code of
Conduct with the statement above.
Best practice 5 - Winnersh Parish Council have concern that raising the limit to
£100 and remaining unlimited could result in a large financial sum over a year.
The Parish Council recognise that £25 may be deemed as ‘low value’ and
suggest a mid-range of £50 should be introduced with a maximum cumulative
limit of £200 in any municipal year.
Best practice 9 - Winnersh Parish Council have concluded that all misconduct
should be made public. However, if a Member admits the misconduct then there
is no need for an investigation providing the Council is happy that the Member
has made a full disclosure.
Best practice 11 - At Winnersh Parish Council the current practice is that
Parish Council will take responsibility for all reports of misconduct and has
procedures in place through a Committee.
Wokingham Town Council
Best Practice 1 - Agreed
Best Practice 5 - WTC did not feel it needed raising at all, and if it were to be
raised, £100 seemed far too high. Based on WTC's discussions, I believe they
would support the compromise suggestion of £50. (£100 is notably higher than the
equivalent in private companies.)
Best Practice 9 - WTC felt very strongly that not publishing outcomes of
confirmed breaches was counter to the Nolan principles, and strongly preferred
Option 2.

44

Best Practice 11 - Agreed with the principle that Town/Parish Councils should
take corporate responsibility in general, but that in the case of Clerks making
complaints about members of their council, this must absolutely remain as a right
of the Clerk to raise their own complaint, rather than requiring the 'sponsorship' of
the Council or an individual Councillor.
Woodley Town Council
The Council’s Strategy and Resources Committee Members agreed to the
proposed Code.
Best Practice 9 - the Committee agreed that it would support option 3. That is
"Removing the informal route from the Code of Conduct so that all complaints are
resolved via a formal investigation.”
WBC Liberal Democrat Group
Best practice 1 - Yes. Social Media behaviour should be treated in the same way
as being face to face with people. If you would not do/say something in real life,
don’t say it on social media.
Best practice 2 - Yes – but what sanctions are available if a Councillor doesn’t
comply? One of the concerns is that the standards process does not have any
ability to apply sanctions to a Councillor.
Best practice 4 - The Complaints process should be clear in assisting the
complainant in specifying from the outset, which part of the Code of Conduct
has been breached.
Best practice 5 - £100 seems very high. What if you got 3 bottles of wine a
month from someone - or an expensive meal out? Ordinarily, a gift from a
resident would be a cup of tea and a biscuit – and nowhere near the current £25
limit.
Best practice 6 - The fact that the complaint happened should still be published
along with why it was not taken further. We should review the criteria.
Best practice 8 - OK. But, we would consider that elected Councillors should not
be involved in this decision, at all.
Best practice 9 – We should not continue with Option 1.
Option 2 should only be taken if it included consultation and agreement by the
complainants. It should always include reporting to Council as well along with the
names of any guilty Councillors.

45

Option 3 could prolong things and add work, making things confrontational when
they don’t need to be. However, a formal investigation must be an option, if the
informal process fails.
Best practice 10 - Needs to be reviewed by someone who is neither an officer
nor a Councillor to see if it makes sense. No complaint should be processed
without specifying what points of the Code of Conduct have been breached.
Best practice 11 - Clerks should continue to be able to make their own
complaints directly, along with individual Councillors.
Best practice 13 – OK, but are we clear about when this might need to be
invoked e.g. if complaint is about Cabinet member or leader?
Best practice 14 - These should be published on the main Council website in a
section on Council-owned companies.
Best practice 15 - There is already a Standards Committee meeting – this is
where these things should be discussed, perhaps in a Part II.
Councillor Keith Baker
Best practice 1 – Agree.
Best practice 5 – I am quite neutral on this. Possibly better to leave it at £25.
Best practice 9: I have ranked by preference:




Option 1 – No.
Option 2 – Second best option.
Option 3 – Preferred option.

Best practice 11 – I fully support the proposal.

Councillor Pauline Jorgensen
Best practice 1 - I am not sure why this is necessary, surely the issue is about
what is said rather than the medium used? The guidelines should be equally
applicable to any public statement including written literature and social media.
Best practice 2 - They should prohibit trivial and malicious allegations by anyone
not just councillors, it should include members of public and officers. We need to
make that clearer. I am also not in favour of publishing complaints unless they are
found proven.

46

Best practice 5 - No strong opinion, everyone should have to disclose gifts in
public not just Councillors, e.g. officers as well.
Best practice 8 - Ok, but I don’t think the decision should be just down to one
independent person, there is a possibility that they are also biased.
Best practice 9 – Option 1 - would agree with this, if things can be resolved with a
retraction or apology which is accepted I see no reason to publish.
Best practice 11 - Is there an appeal process when a Clerk feels they have been
badly treated by the Council as a whole or the majority group?
Best practice 13 - I was listening to a debate in the House of Lords. I wonder if
officers should also have to declare interests and gifts in the same way as
Councillors. They are able to make procurement decisions and I think it would be
more transparent if they also had a register of interests.

Councillor Daniel Sargeant
Best Practice 9 - I think that our current position on this is unsustainable. A
complaint against a Councillor could be related to a public statement or action.
Informal resolution may often be the best way to resolve this, but if the finding is
never made public then there is no method to provide a correction to the original
discourse.
An example may be Councillor A misrepresenting the actions of Councillor B on
social media. The complaint may be upheld, but without being made public, the
original comments by Councillor A are never able to be officially refuted. There
seems no justice to this and little incentive for Councillor A not to repeat the
offence.
Councillor Imogen Shepherd-Dubey
I am largely in favour of the proposed changes to the Constitution.
However, on best practice 9 - I certainly believe that the informal route should be
removed and if someone is guilty, it should be made public.
Our processes should be there to project the innocent, not the guilty - otherwise
the standards process has no threat and Councillors can get away with bad
behaviour.
A Parish Councillor
I have one comment on the Code of Conduct, but I’m not so sure it is covered in
this remit. Anyway, here goes! When a Councillor moves out of a Parish, or the
qualifying area, to be elected a Councillor, then they should resign. This is not
covered per se but probably covered indirectly under the 7 areas of Code of
Conduct. I would like to see it written down explicitly. It is in the best interests of

47

our residents that they are represented by people who also live locally and not, for
example, live in Devon.
A Parish Councillor
I have a couple of thoughts for the record - when you refer to Best Practice and an
"Independent Person " who are or is the adjudication on "conduct" and" best
practice" ? That is who will be judge and jury exactly in all this?
Secondly, we are in the midst of revelations of absolutely shocking misconduct by
both politicians and officers in positions of high office in the USA. These
revelations are coming out fast and furious. So, under such circumstances and if
such things were discovered in the UK to be happening too - and unfortunately
there might be some indications that this might possibly be the case (though to be
fair we don`t yet know how much the UK government was involved with the USA
related activities) - then for any governmental system, national and local in the UK
(or elsewhere too of course) it would be important to refer to the Nuremberg
Code - which ignores hierarchy in government and places on everyone who
comes across wrong or immoral "orders from on high" to challenge such
wrongness no matter where it originated in any hierarchical structure in
government (or in society at large of course).
That is to say just "following orders" was no defence in the Nuremberg Tribunals of
course. The Nuremberg Code enshrines that principle and the code places great
moral responsibility on all.
I personally think it would be intelligent and essential to make reference to the
morality of the code in your Best Practice.
The code of course lies above any document you might issue - but I still think it
intelligent and essential to make reference to it - as that would show that WBC
understands the importance of the code and its enshrined morality with regard to
all in public service in the Borough.
A Town Councillor
Further to the recent consultation, I will mull the more complex elements. I agree
that the complaints issue is a tricky one and the current situation is unsatisfactory.
In regard to section 5, I firmly disagree that lifting the gifts declaration to £100 is
sensible, nor can I think of an argument to raise the cap (but I am open to
suggestion). I actually think that the cap should be lowered, I believe that any gift
valued at £5 or more should be declared on the basis that we should not be
receiving gifts at all.
A Resident
I write, as a Wokingham resident, to provide some feedback on your consultation
request on changes to the Code of Conduct for Elected Councillors.

48

Best practice 1 - I absolutely think that adherence to the Code of Conduct applies
to all media, including social media. I would therefore support the change.
Best practice 5 - I find it highly objectionable that the suggested changes
proposed include an increase to the threshold for declaration. No justification is
given for this change, which in itself comes across as odd - why is this change
being proposed? I would have imagined that Councillors would be keen to be, and
wanted to be seen to be, promoting the utmost propriety. This proposed change
feels at odds with this.
I recognise that it is impractical and inefficient to declare every cup of coffee or
sandwich but the £25 rule is easily high enough to accommodate this. One might
imagine a case could be constructed to justify an inflationary increase. Even so,
£100 today was £25 way back in 1980, accounting for inflation!
Best practice 9 - I would prefer Option 2: that informally resolved complaints are
reported at some level. No great detail would be needed, but it would be helpful to
know a little more about a topic that is currently insufficiently transparent. Again,
this step could go a long way to helping Wokingham Councillors demonstrate their
commitment to Nolan's public life principles.
I could not easily find the existing code of conduct. I'd invite you to feed back that:
a) Its web location should be more easily discoverable, and
b) If it does not, it should take a view on rights, duties and standards expected with
respect to whistleblowing, including related legislation.
A Resident
I would be grateful if you would draw the Committee’s attention to the following
issues, described below, arising from the Lingard Report, published in 2019, titled
“Report of a Review of Planning Enforcement Procedures with regard to Hare
Hatch Sheeplands for WBC”. An un-redacted version of the report was released
by WBC in October 2019, replacing the heavily redacted version published in
August 2019.
In fulfilling best practice 9 - what steps did the Committee take to ensure the
recommendation of the Lingard Report for particular Councillors to undergo
training related to their role in enforcement activities was properly undertaken?
What training did, in fact, take place? Which Councillors took part? Who conducted
the training?
With regard to best practice 7 and 8, will the Committee in future ensure that
when an investigation is initiated, the Independent Person leading the investigation
will not have had any prior role in investigating the same person or organisation?
The author of the Lingard Report, Richard Lingard, conducted his second
investigation over the failed prosecution, confirmed by the Court of Appeal, of the

49

owners of Hare Hatch Sheeplands within 18 months of an earlier investigation by
Mr Lingard which had been triggered by criticisms of WBC by the Judge in an
earlier hearing at Reading Crown Court. Natural Justice can only be served if the
principle of independent review is unswervingly upheld.

50

Agenda Item 31.
TITLE

Update on Code of Conduct Complaints

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Standards Committee on 8 March 2021

WARD

None Specific

LEAD OFFICER

Monitoring Officer - Andrew Moulton

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
To inform and feedback results of the Member Complaints process.

RECOMMENDATION
To note the report and consider any issues arising.

SUMMARY OF REPORT
Since the last report on Complaints to the Committee, on 12 October 2020, there have
been five new complaints received.
Appendix A provides a summary of the complaints and the latest position on each.
A key issue for the Committee’s work in the new municipal year will be the need for
further training and guidance on Members’ use of social media – see separate item on
this agenda.
Following the last meeting of the Standards Committee on 11 January (which was
adjourned before the update on complaints item was considered), queries were raised
about the way historic complaints had been dealt with.
Part 9.1.13 of the Constitution provides the process that is followed by the Council when it
receives a complaint under the Code of Conduct. This process is clear that any decisions
on Code of Conduct complaints that are not taken by a Standards Committee Hearing
Panel (there have been none since May 2019) are made by the Monitoring Officer.
The process requires the Monitoring Officer to consult one of the Council’s Independent
Persons and the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Committee. The decision is and
always has been that of the Monitoring Officer and not the Chairman or the Independent
Person. The Monitoring Officer must only have regard to their views.

51

Background
Under Section 9.1.13.5 of the Council’s Constitution, the Monitoring Officer provides a
report to the Standards Committee, on a quarterly basis, which contains the
following: the number and nature of complaints received; progress on any
investigations and associated costs; and identify areas where training or other action
might avoid further complaints. However, the name(s) of the Member(s) will not be
disclosed.
Since the last report to the Committee on 12 October 2020, there have been five
new Code of Conduct complaints received.
Under the Council’s adopted policy for the consideration of Code of Conduct
Complaints, the Monitoring has delegated authority to decide whether the complaint:a) can be resolved informally i.e. by mediation with the two parties before making
a decision on whether the complaint merits formal investigation;
b) requires investigation;
c) should be referred to the Standards Committee;
d) no further action should be taken.

Analysis of Issues
The latest position on existing complaints is shown at Appendix A.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result of
the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent reductions
to public sector funding.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Revenue or
Capital?

£0

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
Yes

£0

Yes

Revenue

£0

Yes

Revenue

Revenue

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
None
Cross-Council Implications
The work and conduct of Councillors can impact all aspects of the Council’s services.

52

Reasons for considering the report in Part 2
Not applicable
List of Background Papers
None
Contact Andrew Moulton
Telephone No Tel: 07747 777298

Service Governance
Email
andrew.moulton@wokingham.gov.uk

53

Appendix A
Code of Conduct Complaints
Date
Received

Subject
Member

Summary of
Complaint

Progress/Conclusion

5/3/2020

Town &
Parish
Member

Complaint received
from a Town &
Parish Clerk about
bullying and
disrespect to other
Members and
officers, and a
potential breach of
that Councils’
equality duties.

Following an initial evaluation of
Ongoing
the complaint in consultation with
the Chairman and Independent
Person, an independent
investigation was commissioned
by the Monitoring Officer which
indicated evidence of a breach.
The hearing will be held with a
Panel of Members of the
Standards Committee. The Panel
was scheduled to be held on 12
January but this was postponed
following the need the clarify the
membership of the Standards
Committee. A new date is to be
advised.

4/6/2020

Two
Complaint received
WBC
from a member of
Members the public that
alleges two
Councillors were
not adhering to
social distancing
rules.
However, the
complainant is
unclear as to which
part(s) of the Code
of Conduct may
have been
breached.

The Monitoring Officer made an
initial evaluation of the complaint
and following consultation with
the Chairman and Independent
Person on 1 July, the Monitoring
Officer concluded that there was
no evidence of a breach of the
Code of Conduct.

1/7/20

23/7/2020

WBC
Member

Following an initial evaluation of
the complaint in consultation with
the Vice-Chairman and
Independent Person, an
independent investigation has
been commissioned. The
investigator has produced her
report and the outcome will be
reported verbally to the
Committee.

Ongoing

Complaint received
from a member of
the public.
Allegation that
Councillor had
breached
disrespect and
bullying provisions
in the Code as a
consequence of
statements made
on social media.

54

Date
Concluded

Date
Received

Subject
Member

28/7/2020

2/8/2020

Summary of
Complaint

Progress/Conclusion

Date
Concluded

2 WBC
Complaint received
Members from a member of
the public.
Allegation that
Councillors had
breached
disrespect rule in
failing to adhere to
social distancing
guidance.

The Monitoring Officer made an
initial evaluation of the complaint
and, following consultation with
the Chairman and Independent
Person, the Monitoring Officer
concluded that there was no
evidence of a breach of the Code
of Conduct.

6/11/20

WBC
Member

Complaint received
from another WBC
member about a
press release
relating to charges
for personal
trainers.

Following consultation with the
Chairman of the Standards
Committee and the Independent
Person on 11 January it was
decided by the Monitoring Officer
that there was no breach of the
Code of Conduct.

11/1/21

25/11/2020 WBC
Member

Complaint received
from another WBC
member about a
social media post
made by the
subject member
that it is alleged to
have breached
confidentiality.

The Monitoring Officer made an
initial evaluation of the complaint
and in consultation with the
Chairman and Independent
Person on 8 December the
Monitoring Officer decided to
commission an investigation into
the matter.
The investigation is currently
underway at the time of writing.

Ongoing

3/12/2020

WBC
Member

Complaint received
from a member of
the public alleging
that a social media
post by the subject
member was
disrespectful and
in breach of clause
9.2.8.1 of the Code
of Conduct.

The Monitoring Officer consulted
with the Vice Chairman of the
Standards Committee and the
Independent Person on 21
December. It was concluded that
there was no breach of the Code
of Conduct. However, it was also
concluded that the Standards
Committee should consider a
proposed Member Guide to Use
of Social Media to be
incorporated in the Council’s
Constitution in due course – see
separate item on agenda.

21/12/20

14/12/2020 Town &
Parish
Member

Complaint received
from a Town &
Parish Councillor
about the conduct
of a fellow

The Monitoring Officer has made
an initial evaluation of the
complaint prior to consulting with
the Chairman and Independent

Ongoing

55

21/12/2020 Town &
Parish
Member

Councillor during a
Council meeting.

Person – a verbal update will be
provided to the Committee.

Complaint received
from a Town &
Parish Councillor
about the conduct
of a fellow
councillor during a
Council meeting.

The Monitoring Officer has made
an initial evaluation of the
complaint prior to consulting with
the Chairman and Independent
Person – a verbal update will be
provided to the Committee.

56

Ongoing

Agenda Item 32.
TITLE

Social Media Guidance

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Standards Committee on 8 March 2021

WARD

(All Wards);

LEAD OFFICER

Monitoring Officer - Andrew Moulton

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
The Council is bound to maintain a Councillor Code of Conduct and to publish
arrangements to advise residents how complaints can be made under the Code.
RECOMMENDATION
Standards Committee is asked:1. That the Social Media Guidance be approved.
2. That it be recommended that Full Council adopt the Guidance alongside the Code
of Conduct for Members.

SUMMARY OF REPORT
Through the Monitoring Officer’s regular update reports on complaint, the Standards
Committee has previously noted the incidence of complaints against Councillors relating
to their use of social guidance
In order to support Members a proposed Protocol has been produced. The Draft Social
Media Guidance for Councillors of Wokingham Borough Council (‘the Guidance’),
attached at Annex A to the report, aims to encourage and support Councillors when
using, social media in either a professional or personal capacity.

57

BACKGROUND
1.

In recent years, there has been an increase in code of conduct complaints against
Councillors in respect of their social media use.

2.

Many local authorities have sought to limit the amount of complaints by introducing
guidance on social media and policies. At present, the Council does not have any
specific guidance on social media use for its councillors, nor is social media
mentioned in the current Wokingham Borough Council Code of Conduct.

3.

The Local Government Association Model Code of Conduct ( the Model Code)
which was published on 23 December 2020 and is the subject of another report on
the Committee’s agenda, specifically states that the Code extends to ‘all forms of
communication and interaction, including … in electronic and social media
communication, posts, statements and comments’. However, the Model Code does
not go further than this and does not provide any guidance to Councillors on how to
use social media.

4.

Whilst the Model Code explicitly states that it extends to social media use by
Councillors it is considered helpful for councillors to have guidance on how to use
social media responsibly as a councillor, when they are likely to be considered to
acting in their capacity as a Councillor’ and which specific behaviours which may
constitute a breach of the Code of Conduct.

ANALYSIS OF ISSUES
LGA Feedback on the Model Code Consultation
5.

The LGA has published an analysis of its consultation leading to the publication of
the Model Code. Headlines from the consultation included:Is there sufficient reference to the use of Social Media?
Respondents were evenly split about whether there was sufficient reference to the
use of social media in the code, however, a slightly higher proportion of
respondents (43 per cent) said no.
Just over two-thirds of respondents (69 per cent) felt that guidance in relation to
social media should be integrated into the code while just over a quarter (27 per
cent) said that it should be covered in a separate code. The remaining four per cent
did not know or preferred not to answer the question.

58

6.

The LGA Consultation Analysis advises that they received comments and emails
requesting “guidance and clarity around when the code applies to social media, and
issues around online abuse. Some examples of the comments received are shown
here:“It may be useful to have a “best practice” code for use of social media to ensure
that any council considering or using any form of social media is fully aware of the
requirement to uphold to similar standards to the media/press in terms of libel and
slander, in addition to how best to respond and operate different social media
platforms.”
Community / Neighbourhood / Parish / Town Council
“It would be useful to put in guidance of dos and don'ts to assist councillors and
emphasize the need for them to separate their personal social media accounts from
their councillor ones and not use their personal accounts in a way that gives the
impression they are acting in their councillor role.”
District / Borough Council
“Guidance as to the differentiation of social media platforms for personal and
professional use. How to make the difference clear and protect privacy. Guidance
on dealing with harassment from the public and protection available issued to
elected members, officers and political parties on how to support or protect elected
representatives.”
Metropolitan/Unitary/London Borough Councillor
“There is an increasing need for clearer guidance for Councillors about appropriate
conduct on social media both to ensure a high standard of conduct by Councillors,
to enable Councillors to challenge the inappropriate behaviour of others on social
media and to provide protection to Councillors from social media ‘trolling’. This
needs to be integrated in the code, but the level of detail required would more
appropriately be provided in a supplement to the code – not a separate social
media code.”

Despite the overwhelming support for the incorporation of social media guidance into the
Model Code, this has not happened. Therefore, we have developed our own Social Media
Guidance to assist Councillors of Wokingham Borough.
OPTIONS
There are a number of choices open to the Committee:(a) agree to consult with groups before recommendation to Full Council;
(b) not to adopt the Social Media Guidance; or
(c) adopt subject to any amendments.

59

TIMETABLE
If agreed, it is intended that the Guidance will be annexed to the Model Code of Conduct
and so be taken to the same Full Council as the Model Code.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe funding pressures, particularly in the face of the COVID-19
crisis. It is therefore imperative that Council resources are focused on the
vulnerable and on its highest priorities.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Revenue or
Capital?

£0

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
Yes

£0

Yes

N/A

£0

Yes

N/A

N/A

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
None
Cross-Council Implications (how does this decision impact on other Council services,
including properties and priorities?)
Not applicable
Public Sector Equality Duty
Under the Equality Act 2010, Section 149, a public authority must, in the exercise of its
functions, have due regard to the need to—
 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that
is prohibited by or under this Act;
 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;
 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.
An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is not relevant to this report.

Reasons for considering the report in Part 2
Not applicable
List of Background Papers
LGA Model Member Code of Conduct: Consultation response analysis, November 2020
Contact Andrew Moulton

Service Governance

60

Telephone No Tel: 07747 777298

Email
andrew.moulton@wokingham.gov.uk

61

This page is intentionally left blank

ANNEX A
SOCIAL MEDIA GUIDANCE FOR COUNCILLORS
March 2021
What is the purpose of this Guidance and who does it apply to?
Wokingham Borough Council has always been committed to innovation and
creativity in the digital revolution which has taken place over recent years. We
actively encourage the use of social media, which has become an integral part of
everyday life for many of us as it is a useful way to communicate and connect with
people from all over the world.
In respect of Councillors, social media has many benefits including raising a
Councillors profile, helping to deliver information to constituents in a fast and
effective manner and for improving reputation. However, there are also many ways
in which Councillors may use social media inappropriately, and this can have long
lasting consequences for Councillors, and the Council’s reputation.
The Social Media Guidance for Councillors (‘the Guidance’) is intended to assist
Councillors of Wokingham Borough Council when using social media, in a personal
or professional capacity, to avoid potential breaches of their Code of Conduct. Whilst
Standards matters are and dealt with on a case by case basis, this Guidance is
designed to assist Councillors on what is and isn’t appropriate behaviour when using
social media.
Importantly, this Guidance should be read in conjunction with the Council’s Code of
Conduct for Councillors.
Who is this Guidance for?
The Guidance applies to all Councillors and co-opted Councillors of Wokingham
Borough Council.
A co-opted member is defined in section 27(4) of the Localism Act 2011 as “a person
who is not a member of the authority but who:(a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or;
(b) is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or joint subcommittee of the authority; and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be
decided at any meeting of that committee or sub-committee”.

63

“Acting in Capacity” as a Councillor
The Code of Conduct applies where a Councillor acts, or appears to act, in their
capacity as an elected Member of the Council.
‘The Code of Conduct applies to you when:
• you are acting in your capacity as a councillor and/or as a representative of
your council;
• you are claiming to act as a councillor and/or as a representative of your
council;
• you are giving the impression that you are acting as a councillor and/or as a
representative of your council; and
• you refer publicly to your role as a councillor or use knowledge you could only
obtain in your role as a councillor.’
The Code of Conduct specifically states ‘the Code applies to all forms of
communication and interaction, including:
• in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and comments’.
This is a subjective test. However, there are actions which increase the likelihood of
a Councillor being found as “acting in their capacity as a Councillor.” For example, by
identifying that they are a Councillor on their profile page, by using social media to
campaign or to share Council news/developments with the public.
A Councillor may wish to consider the following when using social media:•
•
•

Keep separate accounts for professional and private matters
By having one account which incorporates both a Councillor’s professional
and personal life, Councillors are increasing the risk of being found as acting
in their capacity if a complaint is made.
If a Councillor wishes to keep just one account, be clear on what the account
is used for. For example, if the account is personal, keep it private and refrain
from using Council or Councillor terminology or referring to your role as a
Councillor.

The Code of Conduct
Councillors are personally responsible for their conduct online and therefore
Councillors, should always be mindful of their Code of Conduct. When using social
media, Councillors must adhere to the following provisions in particular:• Respect
- I treat other councillors and members of the public with respect.
- I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of partner
organisations and those volunteering for the local authority with respect and
respect the role they play.
• Bullying, Harassment and Discrimination
- I do not bully any person.
- I do not harass any person.
- I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against any person.

64

• Confidentiality and access to information
- I do not disclose information:
(a) given to me in confidence by anyone
(b) acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of a
confidential nature, unless:
(i) I have received the consent of a person authorised to give it;
(ii) I am required by law to do so;
(iii) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining professional
legal advice provided that the third party agrees not to disclose the information to
any other person; or
(iv) the disclosure is:
1. reasonable and in the public interest;
2. made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable requirements of the
local authority; and
3. I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its release.
- I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my role as a
councillor for the advancement of myself, my friends, my family members, my
employer or my business interests.
- I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled to by law.
• Disrepute
- As a Councillor: I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute.
• Use of Position
- As a Councillor: I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the
advantage of myself or anyone else.
• Complying with the Code of Conduct
- As a Councillor: I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local
authority.
- I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or determination.
- I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is likely to be involved
with the administration of any investigation or proceedings.
- I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a finding that I have breached
the Code of Conduct.
Further, Councillors should also be mindful of the Seven Principles of Public Life (the
‘Nolan Principles’) when using social media.
General Responsibilities When Using Social Media
In addition to the Model Code of Conduct, Councillors should be mindful of the
following responsibilities:
• Councillors should take particular care to ensure that, in any comment or post they
create, they do not imply that they are speaking on behalf of the Council as a whole.
• Once a post is made on social media, it is there for the world to see, even if it is
deleted this does not mean that someone has not already saved a copy of it.
Councillors should never post anything on social media that they would not be
prepared to discuss in public meetings, with their constituents and with their friends
and family. Think carefully before you engage in activity on social media.

65

• Councillors should be honest about who they are on social media and not
impersonate anybody in order to gain a political advantage.
• Councillors should be mindful of the safety of themselves, their families and others.
• Councillors should only share accurate information from reliable sources and
should be mindful of ‘fake news’ stories and outlets.
• Councillors should be trustworthy and not use social media to divulge any
confidential or exempt information which has been shared with them.
• Councillors should keep their social media accounts secure and protected by
passwords. They should not allow anybody else access to any of their social media
platforms.
• Councillors should remain professional and polite when conversing with members
of the public. This includes the use of private messaging, commenting on posts or
replying.
• The way we interact with people in person is not just limited to the things we say.
Body language, expression, tone of voice and who we are speaking to are all
contributing factors to interaction. Considering this, Councillors should always
consider how any comment/post they make on social media could be construed.
• Councillors should refrain from using social media during Council meetings.
Potential Legal Issues
Councillors should be mindful that, in addition to a potential breach of the Code,
misuse of social media may give rise to other consequences. The following issues,
which may lead to criminal or civil legal proceedings, may also arise:
• Data Protection and the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO).
• Publication of Obscene Material.
• Incitement.
• Copyright.
• Harassment.
• Discrimination.
• Bias.
• Defamation.
• Judicial Review.
Training
Training on the use of social media will be made available to Councillors.
The LGA have also published a Checklist for Councillors. This can be found at
Annex B.
If you are unsure, or have any questions about your social media use, contact the
Monitoring Officer.

66

ANNEX B
LGA Checklist for Councillors
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/guidance-and-resources/comms-hubcommunications-support/digital-communications/social-1
Be a Person In the words of Digital Specialist Euan Semple, "Organisations don't
tweet, people do". You are likely to be more effective if your social media profile is
you (with a picture of you) rather than an organisation with a logo.
Don't worry about reaching everyone in your ward Social media will be more
effective in some wards than others. University towns, urban areas with good
broadband and mobile connections, and a working age population tend to work best.
Wards with an older population and poor internet connectivity tend not to be so
effective at reaching your ward. However don't let this stop you as connections are
getting continuously improving as we move towards a higher level of digital
inclusion.
Don't let it replace your traditional work To be an effective councillor you
won't stop meeting people and posting leaflets simply because you are posting
online. The traditional work of a councillor still has to be done. You will know your
residents best—consider which channel works best for them to connect with you,
online and offline.
Think about the platform you'll use If people in your ward are keen Facebook
users then think seriously about Facebook. Twitter is popular among politicians
because it's easy to use and connects people really well. Whichever one you choose,
learn one at a time before even thinking of trying something else. You will know your
residents better than anyone else so ask them which channel works best for them.
See how other councillors use it Watch and learn from other councillors who
are using social media. Have a chat to them. You'll very often find they will be happy
to talk. Even to those from different parties.
Don't be a slogan machine There is a really important decision to be taken over
how political to be. You may have been elected on a party political ticket. But you are
also a rounded human being. Social media is a chance for you to show your human
side. Just posting party political content is likely to switch many people off and you
may be talking only to the party faithful.
Have a conversation Social media works best as a two-way conversation
connecting people and sharing information. Good councillors do this everyday faceto-face with residents—social media should be no different to this.

67

Don't wait for people to come to you You've got your Facebook profile or your
Twitter profile. People won't just come flocking to you. Run a search on your chosen
profile for the name of your ward or an issue. Make a connection. Join a Facebook
group set-up by residents. Comment on a blog, a website or a video clip.
Think about times when you won't post From experience, many elected
members say that Friday and Saturday nights are not always the best time to post
overtly political messages. You won't always get the most rounded debates. Many
councillors post sparingly on religious holidays.
To post in meetings or not? Some authorities frown on posting from social
media in meetings. Check the situation where you are. Residents, residents groups,
journalists and bloggers are being encouraged to use social media from meetings. So
adding your voice to the conversation may be a good thing as part of democracy. If
you can post an update from a meeting and it doesn't hamper your role in that
meeting then it's something to think about.
Don't have a row Robust debate is fine from time-to-time and it's part of the cut
and thrust of local politics. Most people can accept that. But remember how this
debate is playing out to passers-by who are not interested in the detail of the issue.
They are likely to be switched off. Take the row offline with a phone call or an email.
Don't be abusive An absolute 'no no' is abusing people online. It doesn't work. It
will make you look awful and is a sure-fire way to land you in trouble with your
electorate, the party and the council. Be professional. Don't say anything you
wouldn't be happy saying in a public meeting with the Press there.
Don't discuss case work detail Case work can be reported to you on social
media. Everything from uncollected rubbish and a cracked paving slab to concerns
about child protection. As a good rule of thumb, ask residents to tell you the detail of
an issue offline. Social media platforms usually have an easy-to-use way to talk oneto-one. Email and telephone can come into play too.
Pictures work People respond really well to pictures. They don't have to be print
quality. They don't have to be posed. If you are on a ward walk post some pictures.
Include the people you are with if they are happy with that. Post pictures that show
your human side too. That sunrise you just noticed. Your dog. Things that make you
human.
Enjoy it It's not meant to be scary. It's not meant to be hard work. Relax. Be
yourself. Be a responsible elected member. Enjoy it.

68

Agenda Item 33.

Standards Committee
Annual Report
2020/21

Submitted to the Council – March 2021

69

Introduction by John Kaiser,
Vice-Chairman of the Standards Committee
I am pleased to present the Annual Report of the Standards Committee for 2020/21.
The main aim of the Standards Committee is to promote and maintain the highest standards
of conduct by elected Members representing the Borough, Town and Parish Councils. Local
government impacts the lives of residents every day, providing essential services to those it
serves. High standards are required in order to demonstrate that key decisions are taken in
the public interest and to maintain public confidence.
Members’ conduct should be underpinned by the seven principles of public life, also known
as the Nolan Principles - selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness,
honesty and leadership.
The Standards Committee met four times during the year and focussed on ensuring that the
Borough Council’s policies, as set out in the Members’ Code of Conduct, were up-to-date,
understood and underpinned by best practice.
During the year the Committee considered trends arising out of complaints data and
arrangements to ensure that Members were aware of their responsibilities under the Code
of Conduct. The Committee also carried out a public consultation exercise relating to
potential changes to the Code of Conduct and considered the Local Government
Association new Model Code of Conduct. The Committee also considered social media
guidance. The Committee is especially keen to ensure that newly elected Members are
aware of their responsibilities and the standards of behaviour expected of them.
During 2020, the Covid-19 pandemic resulted in the introduction of virtual meetings and
much greater on-line activity for Members. Bearing in mind the significant challenges facing
the Borough, Town and Parish Councils over the year, I am pleased to report that the level
of Code of Conduct complaint activity in 2020/21 remained at a relatively low level compared
to previous years.
Finally, I would like to record my thanks to the Borough, Town and Parish Members, Officers
and Independent Persons who contributed to the work of the Committee during the year.

John Kaiser
March 2021

70

1.0

What does the Standards Committee Do?
The role of the Standards Committee is to promote, monitor and enforce probity and
ethical standards amongst elected Members within the Wokingham Borough,
including Town and Parish Councillors. The Localism Act 2011 removed the
requirement for a national code of conduct and statutory Standards Committees. The
Act introduced a locally focussed “light touch” framework for the adoption of a
Member Code of Conduct, and processes for the receipt and consideration of
complaints. Although not obliged to do so under the terms of the Localism Act,
Wokingham Borough Council decided to maintain a dedicated Standards Committee.
In addition to maintaining an overview of Code of Conduct complaints against
Wokingham Borough Council Members, the Committee is also responsible for
overseeing complaints against Town and Parish Councillors. The Committee
discharges this duty through regular consideration of update reports from the
Monitoring Officer who is responsible for deciding on and dealing with complaints,
except for those which are required to be referred to a Hearing Panel of the
Standards Committee. If the complaints process determines that a Town/Parish
Councillor is in breach of the Code of Conduct, recommendations will be submitted
to the relevant Town/Parish Council as to the appropriate sanction. However it is for
the Town/Parish Council to decide what action is to be taken.
Role and Functions
The Standards Committee has the following role and functions:
a) promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors, co-opted
members, including church and parent governor representatives;
b) assisting the Councillors, co-opted members, including church and parent
governor representatives, to observe the Members’ Code of Conduct;
c) advising the Council on the adoption or revision of its Members’ Code of
Conduct;
d) monitoring the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct, the Officers’ Code
of Conduct and the Council’s Whistleblowing policy and any other appropriate
codes of conduct and procedures;
e) advising, training or arranging to train Councillors, co-opted members and
church and parent governor representatives on matters relating to the Members’
Code of Conduct;
f)

the exercise of (a) to (e) above in relation to the Parish/Town Councils wholly or
mainly in its area and the members of those Parish/Town Councils;

g) the presentation of an annual report by the Chairman of the Standards
Committee to Council.

71

2.0

The Nolan Principles of Public Life
As mentioned earlier, elected Members should seek to carry out their duties in line
with a set of principles known as the Nolan Principles. In 1994, Prime Minister John
Major established the Committee on Standards in Public Life, chaired by Lord
Nolan. The Committee’s first report established a set of seven guiding principles for
conduct in public life.
The Principles of Public Life apply to anyone elected or appointed to public office,
nationally and locally, and everyone appointed to work in local government, the Civil
Service, police, courts and probation service, etc. All public office-holders are both
servants of the public and stewards of public resources.
The seven Nolan principles are:
Selflessness
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.
Integrity
Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work.
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material
benefits for themselves, their family or their friends. They must declare and resolve
any interests and relationships.
Objectivity
Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit,
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.
Accountability
Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions
and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.
Openness
Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear
and lawful reasons for so doing.
Honesty
Holders of public office should be truthful.
Leadership
Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They
should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to
challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs.

72

3.0

Who Sits on the Standards Committee?
The Committee is made up of seven Wokingham Borough Council Members. These
Members are voting members of the Committee and are appointed on the basis of
political proportionality. An elected Member from Wokingham Borough Council chairs
the Committee. John Halsall was Chairman of the Committee until January 2021. A
new Chairman will be appointed at Annual Council in May 2021.
The Committee also includes three, non-voting, Town and Parish Council
representatives. The 2020/21 membership of the Committee was:
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

John Halsall (Chairman) – until January 2021.
John Kaiser (Vice-Chairman)
Prue Bray
Gary Cowan
Graham Howe
Abdul Loyes – from January 2021.
Daniel Sargeant – from January 2021.
Imogen Shepherd-Dubey
Wayne Smith – until January 2021.

o
o
o

Sally Gurney (Wokingham Town Council)
Roy Mantel (Twyford Parish Council)
Vacancy

Steps are being taken to fill the vacancy for a Town/Parish representative.
At the Committee meeting on 11 January 2021, a question was raised regarding the
composition of the membership of th Committee. As a result of the point raised, the
meeting was adjourned to allow the matter to be reviewed. A review was
undertaken, which included obtaining legal advice on the issue, and the Chief
Executive summarised the position in a letter to all Members. It was acknowledged
that the appointments did depart from the Council’s locally agreed rules. However,
the appointments had been made by full Council and, therefore, the Committee
members had been properly appointed. It was determined that the Committee’s
composition and any decisions made by the Committee were not unconstitutional or
unlawful. However, immediate action had already been taken following the meeting
on 11 January in which two Members stepped down from their membership of the
Committee with immediate effect and were subsequently replaced by two new
Members, as detailed above.

4.0

Independent Persons
Under the terms of the Localism Act 2011, Wokingham Borough Council is required
to appoint an Independent Person (a member of the public, not a Council Officer or
elected Member) whose views must be sought before a Hearing Panel of the
Standards Committee takes a decision on an allegation. The Independent Person’s
views may also be sought on an allegation prior to that stage. In addition, a Member
who is subject of an allegation may seek the views of an Independent Person. Three
people are currently acting in the Independent Person role:

73

o
o
o

David Comben
Paddy Haycocks
Nick Oxborough

An Independent Person cannot sit as a member of the Standards Committee, but
may attend meetings with the same rights as a member of the public.

5.0

Who Supports the Standards Committee?
The Committee is supported by:
o
o
o

6.0

Andrew Moulton, Assistant Director, Governance and Monitoring Officer;
Jennifer Lee, Senior Solicitor and Deputy Monitoring Officer;
Neil Carr, Democratic and Electoral Services Specialist.

Standards Committee Activity in 2020/21
During the 2020/21 Municipal Year eight Code of Conduct complaints were received.
The Standards Committee considered an update report on the complaints and
investigations at each of its meetings. The complaints related to:


the alleged disclosure of confidential information;



the breach of social distancing rules relating to Covid-19;



the inappropriate use of social media by Members;



the conduct and behaviour of a Member at a Council meeting;



the wording of a Council press release.

The complaints were considered initially by the Monitoring Officer in consultation with
the Chairman/Vice-Chairman of the Standards Committee and the Independent
Person. In order to improve transparency, the Committee agreed previously that, in
cases where no action was taken, the complainant and other interested parties would
receive a more detailed explanation of the reasoning behind the decision.
It is worth reiterating that the number of complaints received should be seen in the
context of there being 54 Borough Council Members and over 200 Members of Town
and Parish Councils across the Borough. Whilst recognising that the level of
complaint activity in 2020/21 was relatively low, the Committee continues to
recognise the importance of dealing with every complaint seriously and expeditiously.
It is also worth noting that the Covid-19 pandemic resulted in new types of complaint,
including the alleged failure to maintain social distancing in line with the Government
guidance. The pandemic also resulted in much more activity taking place on line,
which changed the dynamic between elected Members, their Councils and their
constituents.

74

As mentioned earlier, the Committee carried out a public consultation exercise
relating to potential changes to the Code of Conduct. The proposed changes
included:
 Inclusion of guidance on use and misuse of social media within the Code of
Conduct;
 Increasing the value of declarable gifts;
 Publishing the outcome of all complaints – including complaints resolved
informally;
 Strengthening the process for supporting Town/Parish Council Clerks in submitting
complaints.
The Committee considered the LGA’s Model Code of Conduct in addition to feedback
from the public consultation at its meeting on 8 March 2021.

7.0

Committee on Standards in Public Life
As mentioned earlier, during 2018/19 the Committee on Standards in Public Life
(CSPL) carried out a review of ethical standards in local government. The
Committee’s final report was published in January 2019.
The CSPL concluded that the vast majority of Councillors and Officers wanted to
maintain the highest standards of conduct in their own authority. However, nationally
there were some examples of poor behaviour often relating to bullying or harassment
and disruptive behaviour. The CSPL also identified a number of risks around conflicts
of interest, gifts and hospitality and the increasing complexity of local government
decision making.
The CSPL felt that local control of the standards system should be retained, via a
Standards Committee, but with more robust safeguards and guidance on developing
an organisational culture which supported the implementation of high ethical
standards. Key recommendations in the CSPL report included:
 A new power for local authorities to suspend Members without allowances for up
to six months;
 Revised rules on the declaration of interests, gifts and hospitality;
 Local authorities to manage their own Codes of Conduct;
 A right of appeal for suspended Members to the Local Government Ombudsman;
 A strengthened role for the Independent Person;
 Greater transparency about the number and nature of Code of Conduct
complaints.
The CSPL also felt that the current criminal offences relating to Disclosable Pecuniary
Interests were disproportionate in principle and ineffective in practice and, therefore,
should be abolished.

75

In relation to organisational culture, the CSPL noted that an ethical culture required
leadership from the Standards Committee, the political group leaders, the Mayor and
the Chief Executive. It was recognised that there would always be robust
disagreement in a political arena. However, the tone of engagement should be civil
and constructive. Political Groups should set clear expectations of behaviour and
senior Officers should work informally with the Groups to resolve standards issues
where appropriate.
Implementation of the CSPL’s recommendations would require changes to primary
and secondary legislation and the Local Government Transparency Code. In the
meantime, as outlined above, the Standards Committee reviewed the existing WBC
Code of Conduct against the best practice principles set out in the CSPL report at its
meetings in 2020/21. In line with CSPL guidance, a public consultation was held on
proposed changes to the WBC Code of Conduct.

8.0

Standards Committee – Future Actions
The Standards Committee will continue to make further improvements to the Code of
Conduct and supporting processes to ensure continuous improvement in line with
best practice. In so doing it will seek to maintain the credibility and good governance
of the Borough, Town and Parish Councils.
The Committee will commission further training and support, as necessary, to
underpin high standards of ethical behaviour by elected Members and Officers across
the Borough. As outlined in the report, in 2021/22 the Committee will focus on
guidance relating to the use and misuse of social media and other impacts relating to
the Covid-19 pandemic. The Committee is keenly aware that high standards of
behaviour help to build trust in elected representatives which is crucial to the
democratic process.
An assessment of the best practice recommendations in the CSPL report indicates
that the Council is already broadly in line. Following the public consultation on
proposed changes to the WBC Code, the Committee will make recommendations for
improvement to the Council during 2021/22. It will also monitor progress relating to
the Government’s response the CSPL report and consider any implications for the
Borough.
Finally, the Committee will endeavour to fill the existing vacancy for a Town/Parish
representative on the Committee.

76

